FILED
12-22-2020
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP1699-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NAKYTA V.T. CHENTIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Maria S. Lazar, Presiding, and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable J. Arthur Melvin, III, Presiding.

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Was there a factual basis for the defendant's plea where the allegations used to support the plea would have been insufficient to sustain a conviction had there been a trial?

The circuit court ruled that there was a sufficient factual basis for the defendant's plea.

2. Was trial counsel ineffective for failing to seek dismissal of the charge for which there was insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Chentis?

The circuit court did not reach this issue because it concluded there was a factual basis for Mr. Chentis' prosecution and conviction.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

Mr. Chentis does not seek oral argument or publication. This case can be resolved by applying settled law to an undisputed set of facts.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Nakyta Chentis was charged with possessing a narcotic and possessing drug paraphernalia after police searched his car during a traffic stop and found a white powder in a bag, needles, a pipe, and a metal "cooking cap." (1:2.) A field test of the powder was positive for oxycodone. (1:2.)

At a pretrial hearing on December 4, 2018, Chentis' counsel asked to schedule the case for trial, explaining "I don't believe the substance has been tested by the State lab, at least I don't have any results and I don't think that the State would do that unless it gets scheduled for trial. I am requesting the substance be tested and we are taking the position that it wasn't what the State states it is." (63:2.) The prosecutor agreed that "setting it for trial could probably assist in getting this moved along." (63:3.) The case was scheduled for trial three months later in March 2019.

The crime lab had actually already tested the white powder eight months earlier, and concluded it was not a controlled substance. (33:13; App. 142.) The record does not reflect why the prosecutor did not mention this in court, or why the exculpatory result was not disclosed to the defense.

When submitting the white powder to the crime lab, the Brookfield Police Department also submitted a metal cup for testing. (33:11; App. 140.) The crime lab was not able to collect a sample from the cup, so it used a "menthol rinse" to determine whether it could extract a residue of a controlled substance from the cup. (33:13; App. 142.) The menthol rinse tested positive for heroin and cocaine, but there was not a measurable quantity of either substance. (33:13; App. 142.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The metal "cooking cap" described in the complaint is interchangeably referred to as both a cup and a cap. This brief uses cup to describe the object.

Page 8 of 23 Case 2020AP001699 **Brief of Appellant** Filed 12-22-2020

> At the final pretrial hearing, Mr. Chentis agreed to plead no contest to Count 1, possessing a narcotic, in exchange for the dismissal of Count 2, possessing drug paraphernalia. (64:2-3; App. 109-10.) The prosecutor also agreed to recommend probation. (64:2-3; App. 109-10.)

> Neither party told the court about the crime lab result until the court sought to determine whether there was a factual basis for Mr. Chentis' plea.

> > The Court:

Listen carefully, Mr. Chentis. Given the fact that you've plead [sic] no contest, are there still sufficient facts alleged in the information and complaint upon which this Court could conclude that you were, in fact, guilty of possessing oxycodone Thursday, July 20, 2017?

Trial counsel: Your Honor, the reason for the the substance that they tested is not what he ultimately would have been convicted on if the case went to trial. There's been some lab testing of some of the paraphernalia that found trace amounts of heroin, and that's the basis. So I just want to put that on the record, that that's the basis for his no contest plea today.

The Court:

It was a controlled substance, just not that one?

Trial counsel: Correct. I understand the State could have filed an amended information or done any number Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 9 of 23

of things, but the fact—if the case were to proceed to trial, given what we know through discovery and through the complaint, there is sufficient evidence that Mr. Chentis understands that he could have been found guilty at trial.

The Court: Of possession of a controlled

substance?

Trial counsel: Correct.

The Court: Is that your understanding as

well, Mr. Chentis.

Mr. Chentis: Yes.

(64:11-12; App. 118-19.) The court then accepted Mr. Chentis' plea. (64:12; App. 119.)

During his sentencing argument, trial counsel reiterated that Mr. Chentis' plea was based on the residue in the cup: "what was tested in this case and tested positive for the presence of heroin was a teacup—the metal tin that a teacup sits in, which was in Mr. Chentis' glove box that he wasn't even aware was in." (64:15; App. 122.)

The court sentenced Mr. Chentis to five months in jail, but stayed that sentence for two years of probation. (64:19; App. 126.)

Mr. Chentis filed a postconviction motion for plea withdrawal arguing: (1) the immeasurable residue would have been insufficient to sustain a conviction at trial, so it could not supply a factual Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 10 of 23

basis for his plea, and (2) his counsel was ineffective for advising him to plead no contest to a charge for which he could not be convicted at trial. (33.) Mr. Chentis' motion relied on the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Kabat v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 224, 251 N.W.2d 38 (1977), which held that a defendant cannot knowingly possess a controlled substance when the substance is present only in immeasurably small quantity that can only be detected "by the skill of the forensic chemist in isolating a trace of the prohibited narcotic in articles possessed by the defendant." Id. at 228.

The circuit court heard arguments from the parties, but denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing under *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979). (65:45; App. 103.)

The court concluded that Mr. Chentis knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea. (65:44; App. 102.) The court noted that a jury would have heard about the heroin in a cup, and had it heard the evidence, a reasonable jury could have convicted Mr. Chentis. (65:44-45; App. 102-03.)

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 11 of 23

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. There was no factual basis for Mr. Chentis' plea because the circuit court was not presented with sufficient facts to conclude that he *knowingly* possessed a controlled substance.

Mr. Chentis is entitled to plea withdrawal because the record fails to establish that he knowingly possessed a narcotic. Mr. Chentis pleaded no contest to possessing a quantity of heroin so small that even the crime lab could not measure it. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that a conviction based on possession of such an unidentifiable quantity cannot stand. *Kabat v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 224, 251 N.W.2d 38 (1977). Therefore, there was no factual basis for Mr. Chentis' plea, and he is entitled to plea withdrawal.

A. A defendant is entitled to plea withdrawal if the circuit court fails to establish a factual basis for the plea.

When a defendant pleads guilty or no contest the court must "make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b); *McCarthy v. United States*, 394 U.S. 459, 467 (1969); *White v. State*, 85 Wis. 2d 485, 488, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978). In other words, the court must find in its review of the record that there is a factual basis for the crime and that the defendant is knowingly admitting to those facts. *McCarthy*, 394 U.S. at 466-67.

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 12 of 23

The circuit court must make this inquiry to protect "a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." White, 85 Wis. 2d at 491. Thus, the court is not merely a rubber stamp for the parties' plea agreement. Instead, the court must play an active role in ensuring the defendant is actually guilty of the charged offense. Moreover, the court must not accept the plea when it becomes apparent that the defendant is not guilty of the charged offense. See id.

A defendant is entitled to plea withdrawal upon showing that "a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in a manifest injustice." *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 18, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. "[I]f a circuit court fails to establish a factual basis that the defendant admits constitutes the offense pleaded to, manifest injustice has occurred," and the defendant can withdraw the plea. *State v. Thomas*, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 17, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836.

Where the factual basis is determined through non-testimonial evidence, as occurred here, the appellate court decides independently whether a factual basis exists. *State v. Peralta*, 2011 WI App 81, ¶ 16, 334 Wis. 2d 159, 800 N.W.2d 512.

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 13 of 23

B. Mr. Chentis is entitled to plea withdrawal because the record does not establish that he knowingly possessed a narcotic.

Mr. Chentis is entitled to plea withdrawal because the facts presented to the court were insufficient to show that he knowingly possessed a narcotic. Mr. Chentis pleaded no contest to possessing "trace amounts of heroin" discovered in a metal cup after the crime lab revealed that the white powder that originally supported the charge was not a controlled substance. (64:11-12; App. 118-19.) However, the State would have been unable to secure a conviction based on his possession of this immeasurably small residue, so there was no basis for the court to accept Mr. Chentis' plea.

1. Knowing possession of a narcotic cannot be presumed when dealing with immeasurably small quantities of the substance.

This case is controlled by the Wisconsin Supreme Court's decision in *Kabat v. State*, which held that a defendant cannot *knowingly* possess an immeasurable residue of a controlled substance. There, the defendant was prosecuted for possessing marijuana after the ash in a pipe he possessed was found to contain the active ingredients for marijuana. 76 Wis. 2d 227-28. The defendant conceded that he possessed the marijuana, but argued no jury could reasonably find that he did so knowingly. *Id.* at 227.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed, holding that "the presence of the narcotic must be reflected in Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 14 of 23

such form as reasonably imputes knowledge to the defendant." *Id.* at 228 (internal quotations and emphasis omitted). The court explained, "Guilt or innocence on a charge of illegally possession may not be determined solely by the skill of the forensic chemist in isolating a trace of the prohibited narcotic in articles possessed by the defendant." *Id.* The court held that the small quantity of marijuana in the pipe's ashes could not be "sufficient to sustain a conviction of knowing possession of a narcotic." *Id.* at 229.

Just as in *Kabat*, this case involves an immeasurably small quantity of a narcotic. The substance in this case was only detectable by use of a "menthol rinse" to extract it from the metal container. (33:13; App. 142.) Even the crime lab was unable to identify a specific quantity of the substance. (33:13; App. 142.) Mr. Chentis' conviction was impossible for the same reason the conviction was overturned in *Kabat*; his guilt could not rest on the crime lab's skill at isolating an unobservable substance from a metal surface that happened to contain a controlled substance.

This case is easily distinguished from *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990), a case where a defendant unsuccessfully sought to have her conviction overturned under *Kabat*. There, police searched the defendant's purse during a traffic stop. *Id.* at 498. Inside, they found a glass vial and a compact with two mirrors that "appeared to have been recently licked or wiped off wet, leaving a powdery residue." *Id.* A crime analyst found cocaine in the threads of the vial used to hold the cap. *Id.* At

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 15 of 23

the ensuing trial, the defendant admitted that the vial previously contained cocaine, which she used with her boyfriend. *Id.* at 498-99.

On appeal, the defendant argued her conviction was void under Kabat because she was found with such a small quantity of cocaine. The Wisconsin Court disagreed, pointing Supreme reasonable theories that could have led to her conviction. First, the jury could reasonably conclude that she looked at the vial when replacing the capas many people do when putting caps on containers and she would have been aware of the remaining cocaine. Id. at 508-09. Second, "[o]n the basis of [the common knowledge that a substance will often remain in a container unless vigorously cleaned], together with the defendant's admission that she knew that the vial contained cocaine at one time, the jury could reasonably infer that the defendant knew that the vial contained residual amounts of cocaine at the time of her arrest." Id. at 509 (emphasis added). Thus, in the absence of an easily observable quantity of the drug, her confession was necessary for the conviction.

In contrast, Mr. Chentis' conviction could not be sustained under either theory from *Poellinger*. First, unlike *Poellinger*, this case does not involve a distinct quantity of drugs that could be observed, collected, and tested. The record before the trial court contained no allegation that a residue could be seen on the metal cup, as it was seen on the vial threads or the compact from *Poellinger*. Second, the complaint did not include any allegation that Mr. Chentis admitted to knowingly possessing the narcotic like

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 16 of 23

the defendant from *Poellinger* did. Rather, his attorney insisted at sentencing that Mr. Chentis did not even know about the metal cup in his car. If Mr. Chentis told police that he possessed the cup and used it when possessing heroin, there may have been a basis to accept his plea. But without a confession to knowing possession, this case is governed by *Kabat*, holding that such a minuscule quantity of a drug cannot be used to impute knowing possession.

2. Once the circuit court heard that Mr. Chentis was pleading guilty to possessing "trace amounts" of heroin, it was required to make a further inquiry to satisfy *Kabat*.

The circuit court needed to conduct a further inquiry into the factual basis for Mr. Chentis' conviction after his counsel said he was pleading to possessing "trace amounts" of heroin. (64:11; App. 118.) The circuit court is presumed to know the law, so it must be presumed that the court knew the rule from *Kabat*. See Tri-State Mech., Inc. v. Northland Coll., 2004 WI 100, ¶ 10, 273 Wis. 2d 471, 681 N.W.2d 302. The circuit court, having heard that Mr. Chentis was pleading guilty to possessing "trace amounts" of heroin should have engaged in a further inquiry to establish whether there was enough evidence to impute knowing possession of heroin to Mr. Chentis.

The court could not simply rely on caselaw holding that a defendant may knowingly possess a modicum or unusable quantity of a drug. *State v. Dodd*, 28 Wis. 2d 643, 651, 137 N.W.2d 465 (1965).

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 17 of 23

*Kabat* requires that when dealing with microscopic quantities of a controlled substance, there must be more than just the presence of the substance to impute knowing possession. The mere fact of the drug's presence is not enough.

"On a motion to withdraw, a court may look at the totality of the circumstances to determine whether a defendant has accepted the factual basis presented underlying the guilty plea." State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 23, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. But the record in this case says almost nothing about the circumstances of Mr. Chentis' possession because the parties "amended" the facts underlying the charge without informing the court until it began asking Mr. Chentis about oxycodone. The criminal complaint does not indicate that there was an observable residue in the metal cup. The only statement of the factual basis came from Mr. Chentis' trial counsel, who stated that Mr. Chentis was admitting to possessing "trace amounts" of heroin. But as discussed previously, possessing a "trace amount" of a substance does not necessarily support a conviction. In light of Kabat, the circuit court needed to inquire further to ensure that Mr. Chentis' conviction was proper. And as discussed above, in of the evidence that he possessed immeasurable and seemingly unobservable quantity of heroin, had the court made that further inquiry, it would have had no basis to accept Mr. Chentis' plea. Therefore, this court should reverse and allow Mr. Chentis to withdraw his plea.

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 18 of 23

II. This court should remand for a *Machner* hearing to determine whether trial counsel had a strategic reason for failing to seek dismissal to a charge where there was no basis for a conviction.

The evidence provided to the circuit court was insufficient to establish a factual basis for Mr. Chentis' plea, but the crime lab report further shows that there was no basis for Mr. Chentis to be charged for possessing a controlled substance. After the white powdery substance that formed the basis for the criminal complaint tested negative, counsel should have sought dismissal of the charge against Mr. Chentis. His failure to do so constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.

#### A. Relevant law.

"manifest injustice" for test plea withdrawal "is met if the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel." State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). When a plea withdrawal motion and an ineffective assistance of counsel motion are intertwined, the defendant must allege a prima facie case of ineffective assistance of counsel. State v. Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 23, 321 Wis.2 d 151, 772 N.W.2d 232. The defendant must allege that defense counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To establish deficient performance, the defendant must show "facts from which a court could conclude that counsel's representation was below the Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 19 of 23

objective standard of reasonableness." Wesley, 2009 WI App 118, ¶ 23. "To establish prejudice, the defendant must show facts from which a court could conclude that its confidence in a fair result is undermined." Id. In plea withdrawal cases, "in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

"[T]o be effective, counsel must act in a manner that demonstrates that he is versed in the criminal law." *State v. Felton*, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 505-06, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983). Counsel's failure to be aware of an applicable defense is "a glaring deficiency in trial counsel's knowledge of the law." *Id.* "The lawyer's duty to inform himself on the law is equally and often more important [than investigating the facts of the case]; although the client may sometimes be capable of assisting in the fact investigation, he is not educated or familiar with controlling law." *Id.* at 506 (emphasis omitted).

The circuit court denied Mr. Chentis' claim that counsel provided ineffective assistance without a hearing. However, if a postconviction motion alleges material facts that, if true, would entitled the defendant to relief, the circuit court *must* hold an evidentiary hearing." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (emphasis added). Even if the allegations in the motion "seem to be questionable in their believability," the court must assume the facts as true. *Id.*, ¶ 12 n.6. Whether the motion alleged facts sufficient to warrant relief is a

Case 2020AP001699 Brief of Appellant Filed 12-22-2020 Page 20 of 23

question of law, which this court reviews de novo. Id.,  $\P$  12.

B. Trial counsel was ineffective for counseling Mr. Chentis into pleading to a charge that should have been dismissed for lack of evidence.

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