FILED 03-05-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 2020AP1699-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

NAKYTA V.T. CHENTIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WAUKESHA COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MARIA S. LAZAR (JUDGMENT) AND THE HONORABLE JACK A. MELVIN, III (ORDER), PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court properly denied Chentis's motion to withdraw his no contest plea after sentencing.

A. Chentis had the burden of showing a manifest injustice.

After sentencing, "[t]he circuit court has discretion to determine whether a plea should be withdrawn, and a plea will not be disturbed unless the defendant establishes by clear and convincing evidence that failure to withdraw the guilty or no contest plea will result in a manifest injustice." *State v. Taylor*, 2013 WI 34, ¶ 48, 347 Wis. 2d 30, 829 N.W.2d 482.

There are different ways a defendant may establish a manifest injustice. Relevant to Chentis's claims on appeal, a circuit court's failure to establish a sufficient factual basis for a defendant's plea "is one type of manifest injustice that justifies plea withdrawal." *State v. Scott*, 2017 WI App 40, ¶ 30, 376 Wis. 2d 430, 899 N.W.2d 728; *accord State v. Higgs*, 230 Wis. 2d 1, 10, 601 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1999). A defendant may also demonstrate a manifest injustice by establishing that he or she received ineffective assistance of trial counsel. *State v. Dillard*, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 84, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44.

When applying the manifest injustice test, the reviewing court is not limited to the plea record but can consider the "totality of the circumstances," including the

sentencing record, defense counsel's statements, and other portions of the record. *State v. Cain*, 2012 WI 68, ¶ 31, 342 Wis. 2d 1, 816 N.W.2d 177; *Scott*, 376 Wis. 2d 430, ¶ 30.

### B. Chentis was not entitled to withdraw his plea due to an allegedly deficient factual basis.

Chentis moved to withdraw his plea, in part, on his contention that the factual basis supporting his plea was insufficient as a matter of law because he could not be convicted of possessing a drug's "immeasurable residue." (R. 33:4.) The circuit court denied Chentis's claim after considering all the facts before it, not just those surrounding the tin cooker and the remaining heroin it contained. (R. 65:44–45.) The court was correct. Even if the circuit court were required to meticulously scrutinize every fact supporting a defendant's negotiated plea (under well-established law, it wasn't), the court nevertheless drew a reasonable inculpatory inference from the aggregate facts set forth by the criminal complaint and the attorneys' verbal representations. Chentis is not entitled to plea withdrawal based on a lacking factual basis.

## 1. A circuit court must establish a factual basis before accepting a defendant's guilty or no-contest plea.

Before accepting a defendant's guilty or no-contest plea, circuit courts are instructed to satisfy certain requirements. Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1). Among those duties, a circuit court is directed to "[m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). A sufficient factual basis exists if an inculpatory inference can reasonably be drawn by the fact-finder from the facts, even if an exculpatory inference can also be drawn and the defendant insists that the exculpatory one is the correct inference. *State v. Black*, 2001 WI 31, ¶ 16, 242

Wis. 2d 126, 624 N.W.2d 363; *State v. Spears*, 147 Wis. 2d 429, 435, 433 N.W.2d 595 (Ct. App. 1988).

Moreover, when the guilty plea is the product of a negotiated plea agreement like in Chentis's case, the trial court need not go to the same lengths in assessing whether the facts would sustain the charge as it would if there had been no negotiated plea agreement. See State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 645–46, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998).

2. The facts alleged in the criminal complaint, paired with the laboratory test results verbally described to the court, were sufficient to support Chentis's plea.

This Court should affirm because the facts contained in the criminal complaint, paired with defense counsel's factual representations about the laboratory's testing results, permitted the circuit court to draw a reasonable inculpatory inference that Chentis knew he possessed an illegal narcotic drug when stopped by police. *See Black*, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 16; *Spears*, 147 Wis. 2d at 435.

Recall that, according to the criminal complaint, officers discovered a bag containing assorted drug paraphernalia used to process and inject drugs, including needles, a constrictor band, and a tin cooker. (R. 1:2.) Officers found that bag in a car that Chentis owned and drove minutes earlier, stuck between the vehicle's center console and the seat Chentis occupied seconds earlier. (R. 1:2.) Chentis's car also contained numerous other pieces of drug paraphernalia, including a suspected "crack pipe." (R. 1:2.)

Further establishing knowledge and ownership of the items, Officer David observed "fresh track marks" on Chentis's left elbow area, a known indicator of recent intravenous drug use. (R. 1:2.) Chentis's lone passenger

denied knowledge of (and thus ownership of or responsibility for) the contraband contained in the vehicle. (R. 1:2.)

In addition to the criminal complaint's contents, before the circuit court accepted Chentis's plea, defense counsel explained that laboratory testing identified trace amounts of heroin in Chentis's drug paraphernalia. (R. 64:11.)

Reviewing these aggregate facts, it was reasonable for the circuit court to infer that Chentis knew that he possessed heroin. See Black, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 16; Spears, 147 Wis. 2d at 435. Although one could undoubtedly come up with innocent explanations for the officers' observations, it was reasonable to suppose that an intravenous drug user driving his own car filled with his own drug paraphernalia knew that the bag next to his seat, holding all the items necessary to prepare and inject a drug, still contained some heroin.

Again, the State did not need to prove Chentis's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt at his plea hearing; it merely had to present the circuit court with enough facts to draw an inculpatory inference supporting Chentis's guilt, even if one could also draw conflicting, exculpatory inferences from those same facts or even if Chentis had explicitly disputed those facts. *See Black*, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 16; *Spears*, 147 Wis. 2d at 435. Notably, had Chentis entered an *Alford* plea and outright denied his guilt, the State still would not have needed to

negate all exculpatory inferences before the court could accept his plea.<sup>3</sup> See Schwarz, 219 Wis. 2d at 645.

Still, to convince this Court that his plea should never have been accepted, Chentis insists that his claim is "controlled" by the supreme court's decision in *Kabat v. State*, 76 Wis. 2d 224, 251 N.W.2d 38 (1977), and he simultaneously tries to distinguish State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). (Chentis's Br. 8–9.) As the State will explain, this Court should easily reject Chentis's argument because both *Kabat* and *Poellinger* concern whether the State presented sufficient trial evidence to support a conviction, not whether facts allowed a circuit court to draw the reasonable inculpatory inferences necessary to accept a defendant's plea.

In Kabat, the supreme court assessed whether sufficient trial evidence supported a defendant's conviction for possessing a controlled substance—namely, marijuana found inside a smoking pipe. 76 Wis. 2d at 227. At trial, a Wisconsin State Crime Laboratory chemist testified to removing, testing, and identifying less than one half-gram of drug residue from a smoking pipe seized at a party Kabat attended. Id. at 225–26. Kabat testified to using that pipe to smoke marijuana two weeks before the party at which officers seized his smoking device, but he denied knowledge that the pipe still contained marijuana that night, insisting that he had cleaned it since he last used it. Id. at 226. Other party

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has defined an *Alford* plea as "a guilty or no contest plea in which the defendant either maintains innocence or does not admit to the commission of the crime." State v. Multaler, 2002 WI 35, ¶ 4 n.4, 252 Wis. 2d 54, 643 N.W.2d 437. Before accepting an Alford plea, a circuit court is required to not only find the existence of a factual basis as required by Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b) but must also determine whether "the evidence the state would offer at trial is strong proof of guilt." State v. Johnson, 105 Wis. 2d 657, 663, 314 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1981).

attendees corroborated Kabat's story, testifying "that they had not seen anyone using the pipe during the party." *Id.* Still, the circuit court found Kabat guilty of knowingly possessing the drug in the pipe. *Id*.

The supreme court reversed Kabat's conviction and ordered his complaint be dismissed. Id. at 229. The court noted that the pipe in question contained less than one-half gram of ash material, and it held that "[u]nder the circumstances of the case it cannot be said that the presence of the narcotic was reflected in such a form as reasonably imputed knowledge to Kabat that it was marijuana." Id. at 228. The court made clear, as Chentis correctly argues, "Guilt or innocence on a charge of illegal possession may not be determined solely by the skill of the forensic chemist in isolating a trace of the prohibited narcotic in articles possessed by the defendant." Id. at 228 (quoted source omitted).

In *Poellinger*, the State presented trial evidence that the defendant possessed a purse containing several items, including a metal compact that appeared to have been licked or wiped, leaving a powdery residue, along with a small glass vial containing residual amounts of cocaine in the threads of the cap. 153 Wis. 2d at 498. Similar to Kabat, Poellinger testified that the paraphernalia (in her case, a vial) contained cocaine at one time, but she believed the vial was empty because she and her boyfriend had used the cocaine months earlier. *Id.* at 498–99. A crime laboratory analyst was able to remove white powdery residue on the threads of the vial and tested that substance, revealing residual amounts of cocaine. Id. at 498. A jury found Poellinger guilty. Id. at 499.

Poellinger attempted to have her conviction overturned under the same rationale driving *Kabat*, arguing that the trial evidence presented to prove knowing possession of cocaine was lacking. Id. at 499. The supreme court disagreed. Id. at 508–09. The court explained that the jury was entitled to

consider matters of common knowledge and experience when weighing the evidence, such as the recognition that people usually look at a bottle when replacing its cap, and the jury could infer that Poellinger would have seen the white powdery residue when replacing the vial's cap. *Id.* at 509. Or the jury could have inferred that, unless one took "extraordinary measures" to remove the cocaine from the vial, "some of those contents will remain behind." *Id.* at 509. The court concluded that, "On the basis of this common knowledge, together with the defendant's admission that she knew that the vial contained cocaine at one time, the jury could reasonably infer that the defendant knew that the vial contained residual amounts of cocaine at the time of her arrest." *Id.* at 509.

To summarize, both *Kabat* and *Poellinger* assessed whether certain trial evidence was sufficient to support a trial verdict. Neither opinion examined whether a circuit court was presented sufficient facts to accept a defendant's plea. Nevertheless, Chentis draws two overarching principles from *Kabat* and *Poellinger* to support his argument, but both miss the mark.

First, Chentis stresses *Kabat*'s recognition that "[g]uilt or innocence on a charge of illegally [sic] possession may not be determined *solely* by the skill of the forensic chemist in isolating a trace of the prohibited narcotic in articles possessed by the defendant." (Chentis's Br. 9 (emphasis added).)

Not to further belabor the point, but the State has already shown how the inference that Chentis knew he possessed heroin in his car was not based *solely* on the laboratory test results; Chentis's arm showed signs of recent intravenous drug use as he drove his own car filled with drug paraphernalia, including needles, a constrictor band, and a cooking tin containing leftover heroin. *See supra* pp. 9–10.

Second, Chentis appears to read Poellinger to hold that the State can only prove a defendant's awareness of drugs in negligible concentrations if the defendant makes inculpatory admission. (Chentis's Br. 10–11.)

But *Poellinger* established no such a bright-line rule. Rather, the supreme court merely recognized that a jury could reasonably conclude that Poellinger knowingly possessed cocaine residue based on its common knowledge and Poellinger's admission that she knew the vial previously contained cocaine. 153 Wis. 2d at 509. It should go without saying that a court's recognition that specific evidence is sufficient to support a conviction in one case does not set the lowest threshold by which evidence is to be judged in all other cases. In other words, just because the court decided that the jury could have convicted Poellinger, in part, due to her admission does not mean that other sorts of circumstantial evidence could not carry the day in other cases.

Simply put, the circuit court in this case heard no facts suggesting that Chentis tried to rid himself of illegal substances like in *Kabat*, and it was reasonable for it to infer, like the court in *Poellinger*, that when one possesses or uses an illegal substance in a container, that container is likely to retain some amount of the substance thereafter, even if in minute amounts. Neither Kabat nor Poellinger supports Chentis's position that he could not be convicted based on the facts presented to the circuit court in his case.

As a final matter, the State perceives a fleeting argument from Chentis that the factual basis supporting his plea was somehow undermined based on his defense counsel's sentencing arguments. (Chentis's Br. 11.) His logic is confusing as it was not until after the court found a sufficient factual basis, accepted Chentis's plea, and proceeded to sentencing that defense counsel attempted to minimize Chentis's culpability by arguing that his client was unaware of the tin cooker in his vehicle. (R. 64:15.)

But even ignoring that defense counsel's statements occurred after the court had already found a factual basis at the parties' stipulation, counsel's sentencing arguments made no sense in context, and the circuit court had no reason to revisit its factual basis finding. Recall that defense counsel raised no objection to the circuit court accepting the facts alleged in the criminal complaint to find a factual basis for Chentis's plea. (R. 64:11.) Minutes later, however, defense counsel argued Chentis was unaware of the illegal heroin not because of the quantity in which it was found but because it was inside the vehicle's glove box. (R. 64:15.) Although clearly aimed at minimizing his client's culpability rather than undermining the plea that Chentis had just entered, defense counsel's argument directly contradicted the facts alleged in the criminal complaint, which indicated that officers located the tin cooker in a bag alongside Chentis's seat, not in the glove compartment. (R. 1:2.)

In sum, the factual basis threshold to accept Chentis's plea was low, and the court merely had to draw an inculpatory inference from the facts presented. See Black, 242 Wis. 2d 126, ¶ 16; Spears, 147 Wis. 2d at 435. Even confronted with defense counsel's sentencing argument, the contents of the criminal complaint and the summary of the laboratory test results were enough for the court to find that Chentis knowingly possessed heroin. Because a sufficient factual basis existed for his plea, Chentis failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that a manifest injustice would occur if he were not allowed to withdraw that plea. Taylor, 347 Wis. 2d 30, ¶ 48; Scott, 376 Wis. 2d 430, ¶ 30. Accordingly, the circuit court was correct to deny his motion, and this Court should affirm.

### C. Chentis was not entitled to withdraw his plea due to alleged ineffective assistance of counsel.

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